

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active.



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Journal of Diabetes and Its Complications

journal homepage: WWW.JDCJOURNAL.COM



# Depression and cardiovascular disease events among patients with type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis with bias analysis



Kosuke Inoue<sup>a,b,\*</sup>, James Beekley<sup>a</sup>, Atsushi Goto<sup>c</sup>, Christie Y. Jeon<sup>d</sup>, Beate R. Ritz<sup>a,e,f</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Epidemiology, UCLA Fielding School of Public Health, Los Angeles, CA, United States

<sup>b</sup> Division of Nephrology and Endocrinology, University of Tokyo Graduate School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan.

<sup>c</sup> Metabolic Epidemiology Section, Center for Public Health Sciences, National Cancer Center, Tokyo, Japan.

<sup>d</sup> Samuel Oschin Comprehensive Cancer Institute, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, Los Angeles, CA, United States

<sup>e</sup> Department of Environmental Health Sciences, UCLA Fielding School of Public Health, Los Angeles, CA, United States

<sup>f</sup> Department of Neurology, UCLA David Geffen School of Medicine, Los Angeles, CA, United States

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 4 June 2020 Received in revised form 22 July 2020 Accepted 18 August 2020 Available online 2 September 2020

Keywords: Type 2 diabetes Depression Cardiovascular disease events Meta-analysis Bias analysis

# ABSTRACT

*Aims*: To provide updated systematic and quantitative summary of the association between depression and the risk of CVD events among individuals with type 2 diabetes. We also aimed to examine the sensitivity of the association to uncontrolled confounding.

*Methods:* Data sources included Medline, Embase, and PsycInfo through September 2019. Two independent reviewers selected cohort studies that evaluated the association between depression and fatal or non-fatal CVD events among individuals with type 2 diabetes. Bias analysis was performed using the bias formula approach.

*Results*: Of 2527 citations screened, 17 eligible studies with a total of 1,033,131 participants were identified. Based on random-effects meta-analysis, depression was associated with higher risks of non-fatal CVD events (relative risk 1.35, 95% confidence interval [CI] 1.20 to 1.53) and fatal CVD event (relative risk 1.47, 95% CI 1.21 to 1.77). Bias analysis indicated that unmeasured confounders alone may not explain the observed association between depression and CVD events among individuals with type 2 diabetes.

*Conclusions*: Depression was associated with a higher risk of non-fatal and fatal CVD events among individuals with type 2 diabetes. Our findings provide updated and robust evidence about the association between depression and CVD events among individuals with type 2 diabetes.

© 2020 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

# Contents

1.	Introduction	2				
2.	Methods	2				
	2.1. Data sources and searches	2				
	2.2. Study selection	2				
	2.3. Data extraction and quality assessment	2				
	2.4. Data synthesis and analysis	2				
3.	Results	4				
	3.1. Study characteristics	4				
	3.2. Random effects meta-analysis	4				
	3.3. Stratified analysis	5				
	3.4. Bias analysis	5				
4.	Discussion	5				
5.	Conclusions	9				
CRe	CRediT authorship contribution statement					
Fun	ng/support	9				

\* Corresponding author at: Department of Epidemiology, UCLA Fielding School of Public Health, 650 Charles E. Young Dr. South, Los Angeles, CA 90095, United States. *E-mail address:* koinoue@ucla.edu (K. Inoue).

Acknowledgments	~
	9
Appendix A. Supplementary data	9
References	9

#### 1. Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) killed 17.9 million people globally in 2016, making it the most common cause of death (31%) among all causes.<sup>1</sup> Diabetes, one of the main risk factors for CVD, affects approximately 425 million adults and imposes substantial health and economic burden on the global population, resulting in 4 million deaths and \$727 billion in health expenditure worldwide in 2017.<sup>2</sup> In response to these public health crises, as an essential part of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), the United Nations has proposed to reduce morbidity and mortality for non-communicable diseases including CVD and diabetes, by one-third, by 2030.<sup>3</sup> Therefore, understanding the major risk factors for CVD among patients with diabetes and mitigating the risks of CVD events is imperative to achieving this challenging goal.

Depression is closely interrelated with CVD and diabetes.<sup>4-6</sup> According to the INTERHEART study, psychosocial stress accounts for approximately 30% of the attributable risk of acute myocardial infarction, ranking it third after lipids and smoking.<sup>7</sup> In addition, the prevalence of depression in patients with type 2 diabetes is approximately twice as high as for those without diabetes.<sup>8</sup> It is also known that diabetic patients suffer from distress related to chronic disease management, necessary lifestyle changes, and other long-term adverse health outcomes related to diabetes.<sup>9</sup> While a previous meta-analysis >7 years ago showed that depression increases the risk of cardiovascular mortality among patients with type 2 diabetes,<sup>10</sup> a comprehensive review that details the association between depression and incident non-fatal CVD events among diabetic patients is lacking. Given the large lifestyle and economic impacts of CVD events even without causing death,<sup>1,11</sup> clarifying the impact of depression on non-fatal CVD events with the most recent data is important.

Depression and CVD share many risk factors, including socioeconomic status or its components income, educational attainment, and occupational status.<sup>4,12</sup> While data for income and/or educational levels are often available to control for socioeconomic status in observational studies related to diabetes, mental health, and CVD, employment status has not been included in most of the previous studies. Recent studies have shown that unemployment is a risk factor of depression<sup>13</sup> and CVD events<sup>14,15</sup> independently of other socioeconomic factors (e.g., income, education, and marital status) indicating the importance of additionally controlling for employment status (prior to the onset of depression). Bias analysis for uncontrolled confounding is a standard strategy to mitigate and assess the magnitude of this limitation in studies with unmeasured confounding. While this approach allows to more validly estimate the risk of CVD among diabetic patients with depression compared to those without depression, few meta-analyses of observational studies have employed this method thus far.<sup>16,17</sup>

In the present systematic review and meta-analysis, we thus aimed to investigate the association between depression and the risk of CVD events among patients with type 2 diabetes. Given the potential for confounding bias due to unmeasured confounders such as employment status in observational studies, we also performed a bias analysis to evaluate the robustness of our findings to this common bias.

# 2. Methods

#### 2.1. Data sources and searches

Literature searches were conducted through September 30, 2019, using the electronic databases MEDLINE, EMBASE, and PsycINFO for cohort studies investigating the association between depression and incidence and prevalence of CVD among individuals with type 2 diabetes. The following search terms in MEDLINE were applied: ("Diabetes mellitus, type 2"[MeSH Terms] OR "diabetes"[All Field]) AND ("Depression"[MeSH Terms] OR "depression"[All Field] OR "depressive disorder"[MeSH Term] OR "depressive"[All Field]) AND ("Cardiovascular Diseases"[MeSH Terms] or "cardiovascular"[All Fields]) AND ("longitudinal"[All field] or "cohort"[All Field] or "Cohort studies"[MeSH Terms]). We applied no language or study type restrictions. We also manually searched the references of relevant studies. The same search strategy was also applied for searches of EMBASE and PsycINFO (Supplementary Table 1). The present study followed the recommendations of the Meta-analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) Group.<sup>18</sup>

#### 2.2. Study selection

Two investigators (the first and second authors) independently evaluated the articles for eligibility. The inclusion criteria were: 1) a cohort study of people diagnosed with diabetes (defined clinically or by self-report) either as total sample or subgroup, 2) CVD events (see Table 1 for details in the assessment of CVD in each study) reported as the study outcome, and 3) the association between depression and CVD events during follow up was estimated in those with diabetes. Cohort studies were defined as those that prospectively identified a group of people, assessed exposures of interest, and followed them for the incidence of outcome events or those that used existing data records to retrospectively identify a group of people in whom exposure (i.e. depression) was assessed prior to the occurrence of outcome (i.e. CVD) events.<sup>17</sup> We restricted our analyses to cohort studies to assure the timing for the onset such that CVD events did not affect depression rather than the other way around among those with type 2 diabetes. We included studies that identified depression by applying standardized screening tools or clinical criteria or identified in medical records. We determined the eligibility of the candidate studies by retrieving and screening the full text. All discrepancies were resolved by consensus after discussion that also included co-authors.

#### 2.3. Data extraction and quality assessment

We extracted the following information; study characteristics (first author name, publication year, country of study, length of follow-up, study design and sample size), participant characteristics (age, sex, diabetes assessment, CVD history), exposure assessment, outcome assessment, adjustment factors, analysis strategy, and multivariableadjusted relative risks and variance. If the appropriate information was missing, we requested this from the investigators. Two investigators (the first and second authors) independently extracted data and all discrepancies were resolved by discussion with co-authors.

To assess study quality, we evaluated sources of participants, comparability between respondents and non-respondents, exposure assessment, outcome assessment, and statistical quality.<sup>17</sup> As the scoring itself submerges detail information of each study, we chose not to employ a scoring system to formally rate study quality.<sup>19</sup>

#### 2.4. Data synthesis and analysis

Relative Risks (RRs) were estimated based on hazard ratios (HRs) reported in studies for CVD events among depressed and non-depressed study populations with diabetes since all cohort studies used Cox

I GIDIC I
-----------

Characteristics of studies included in meta-analysis.

Study	Year	Country	Length of follow-up (years)	N of participants	Age (years) <sup>a</sup>	Male, % <sup>a</sup>	Diabetes assessment	Depression (exposure) assessment	CVD (outcome) assessment	Covariate adjustment
Black et al. <sup>27</sup>	2003	US	7.0	636	73.3	41.0	Self-report	CESD	Macrovascular complications: CVD, stroke, kidney disease (identified by self-report)	Age, sex, education, marital status
Egede et al. <sup>28</sup>	2005	US	7.0	715	63.2	38.0	Self-report	CESD	CHD mortality (identified by National Death Index)	Age, sex, race, poverty, education, marital status, smoking, physical activity, BMI, cancer, hypertension, heart disease, stroke, aspirin
Bruce et al. <sup>38</sup>	2005	Australia	7.8	1273	64.1	48.7	Clinical diagnosis	GHS	CVD mortality (identified by government register records)	Age, sex, race, smoking, duration of diabetes, HbA1c, CHD history, anti-hypertensive medication, albumin-creatinine-ratio, retinopathy, neuropathy
Katon et al. <sup>29</sup>	2008	US	2.0	10,704	75.6	56.3	Registry	ICD-9	CVD, CVA (identified by ICD-9)	Age, sex, race, Charlson comorbidity index, prior amputation, CVD history
Lin et al. <sup>30</sup>	2009	US	4.4	4184	64.0	51.5	Registry	PHQ-9	CVD mortality (identified by medical records, autopsy reports, or death certificates)	Age, sex, race, education, marital status, type of treatment, smoking, physical activity, BMI, duration of diabetes, HbA1c, hypertension, medical comorbidity,
Lin et al. <sup>31</sup>	2010	US	5.0	3723	64.3	52.1	Registry	PHQ-9	Macrovascular events: MI, stroke, CHD, cardiovascular procedures, revascularization of the lower extremity (identified by medical records, or ICD-9) <sup>b</sup>	Age, sex, race, education, marital status, duration of diabetes, smoking, physical activity, BMI, treatment, costs, hypertension, HbA1c, RxRisk score
Pan et al. <sup>32</sup>	2011	US	6.0	4873	67.6	0	Self-report	MHI-5	CVD mortality (identified by report from next of kin, postal authorities, or National Death Index)	Age, marital status, smoking and drinking status, BMI, physical activity level, hormone replacement therapy, aspirin and multivitamin use, family, history of cancer, parental history of MI, major comorbidities (hypertension, elevated cholesterol, heart disease, stroke and cancer)
Scherrer et al., <sup>33</sup>	2011	US	7.0	53,632	55.6	88.3	ICD-9	ICD-9	MI (identified by ICD-9)	Age, sex, race, marital status, insurance
Bot et al. <sup>39</sup>	2012	Netherland	6.2	330	65.0	70.3	Self-report	BDI	CVD mortality (identified by Municipal Personal Records database)	Age, sex, smoking, hypertension, previous MI, Killip class, LVEF
Sullivan et al. <sup>34</sup>	2012	US	4.7	2053	62.2	60.4	Clinical diagnosis	PHQ-9	Composite outcome (major coronary artery disease events, nonfatal MI, and unstable angina)	Age, sex, race, education, smoking, alcohol, living alone, BMI, weight, waist circumference, duration of diabetes, blood pressure (systolic and diastolic), triglycerides, LDL and HDL cholesterol, serum creatinine, HbA1c, fasting glucose, presence of microvascular complications, antihypertensive medication, and lipid-lowering medications
Ting et al. <sup>40</sup>	2013	Hong Kong	7.4	7835	56.5	46.5	Registry	Medical record	CVD outcome: CHD, peripheral vascular disease (identified by hospital discharge records and ICD-9) <sup>b</sup>	Age, sex, smoking, BMI, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, duration of diabetes, HbA1c, lipids, eGFR, lipid drugs, antihypertensive medication, antidiabetic medication, insulin, urinary albumin.
Coleman et al. <sup>35</sup>	2013	US	10.0	4128	63.4	51.9	Self-report	PHQ-9	CVD mortality (identified by ICD-10)	Age, sex, race, education, marital status, treatment, smoking, physical activity, BMI, duration of diabetes, HbA1c hypertension comorbidity
Cummings et al. <sup>36</sup>	2016	US	6.0	4090	64.8	42.0	Self-report	CESD	Acute CHD, and CVD mortality (identified by self-report or medical records)	Age, sex, race, education, region, income, insurance, smoking, BMI, systolic blood pressure, cholesterol, heart disease, CRP, AF, LV hypertrophy, statin
Novak et al. <sup>37</sup>	2016	US	6.7	933,211	64.0	97.0	ICD-9	ICD-9	CHD (identified by ICD-9 or Current Procedural Terminology code)	Age, sex, race, marital status, BMI, eGFR, comorbidities at baseline (hypertension, CVD, Congestive heart failure, peripheral vascular disease, lung disease, dementia, rheumatic disease, malignancy,

(continued on next page)

Table 1 (continued)

Study	Year	Country	Length of follow-up (years)	N of participants	Age (years) <sup>a</sup>	Male, %ª	Diabetes assessment	Depression (exposure) assessment	CVD (outcome) assessment	Covariate adjustment
Bruce et al. <sup>41</sup>	2016	Australia	3.7	1337	65.8	43.0	Clinical diagnosis	PHQ-9	CHD (identified by self-report or medical records) and CVD mortality (medical records)	HIV/AIDs, and PTSD), statin, antihypertensive medication, serum albumin level. Age, sex, aborigial, smoking, blood pressure, HbA1c, eGFR, prior CHD, Charlson comorbidity index, insulin use (covariates were selected based on statistical association with outcomes)
Wang et al. <sup>42</sup>	2018	Australia	1.5	274	71.0	54.7	Self-report	PHQ-9	Heart failure (identified by Framingham HF criteria)	Age, sex, obesity, HbA1c, LVH, E/e'
Hamieh et al. <sup>43</sup>	2018	France	20.0	133	47.8	74.5	Self-report	CESD	Angina pectoris, MI (identified by self-report)	Age, sex, smoking status, physical activity, obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, occupational grade, parental CHD history,

CESD, Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale; GHS, General Health Status Questionnaire; ICD, International Classification of Diseases; PHQ, Patient Health Questionnaire; MHI-5, five-item Mental Health Index; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; CVD, cardiovascular disease; CHD, coronary heart disease; CVA, cerebrovascular accident; MI, myocardial infarction; BMI, body mass index: LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction: LVH. left ventricular hypertrophy.

<sup>a</sup> Mean age and percent of male among diabetic patients were calculated based on tables in each paper if not presented.

<sup>b</sup> CVD as a cause of mortality was included in the definition of outcome assessment.

proportional hazard models. For studies that quantified HRs of CVD events using participants without diabetes and depression as a reference group, we calculated the HRs of CVD events for diabetic patients with depression relative to diabetic patients without depression using the method proposed by Altman and Bland.<sup>20</sup> For studies that reported multiple estimates, we selected the estimate which most closely adjusted for age, sex, race, socioeconomic status, and comorbidities. If studies presented the HRs according to the severity of depression, we used the estimates of the most severe depression group.<sup>21</sup>

The potential for publication bias was assessed using funnel plots, Begg's test,<sup>22</sup> and Egger's test.<sup>23</sup> We summarized the effect estimates using a random effects model.<sup>24</sup> The statistical heterogeneity of relative risks across studies was assessed using Cochrane's Q test and I<sup>2</sup> statistics.<sup>25,26</sup> Low, moderate, and high degree of heterogeneity was defined as I<sup>2</sup> ≤ 25%, 25–75%, and >75%, respectively. We additionally performed stratified analyses by study location (US<sup>27–37</sup> or Non-US<sup>38–43</sup>), length of follow-up (>6 years<sup>27,28,33,35,37–40,43</sup> vs. ≤6 years<sup>29–32,34,36,41,42</sup>), inclusion criteria (including previous CVD<sup>28–32,34–39,41</sup> vs not<sup>27,33,40,42,43</sup>), diabetes assessment (type 2<sup>27,30–35,38,40–42</sup> vs. type unclear<sup>28,29,36,37,39,43</sup>) and non-fatal CVD outcomes (including stroke<sup>27,31,36,40</sup> vs. not<sup>28–30,32–39,41–43</sup>). *P* values for comparisons between subgroups were computed using the method proposed by Altman and Bland.<sup>20</sup> An additional sensitivity analysis removing each study one at the time was also conducted to examine the magnitude of influence of each study on pooled estimates.

We performed a bias analysis to investigate the potential impact of uncontrolled confounding by an unmeasured confounder. Because none of the studies included in this meta-analysis controlled for employment status as an important confounders between depression and CVD events (Supplementary Fig. 1), we used employment status for assessing the potential influence due to unmeasured confounders on our results in this bias analysis. We assigned plausible prevalence estimates for the unmeasured unemployment among diabetic patients without depression (10%), and among diabetic patients with depression (10%, 15%, 20%, or 25%), and the relative risks relating the unmeasured employment status and cardiovascular disease (a wide range of relative risks from 1.0 to 5.0), based on prior studies.<sup>14,15,44,45</sup> Using these assigned values, we computed the adjusted relative risks, and 95% confidence intervals (CI), externally adjusted for the unmeasured employment status. In our bias analysis, we divided the observed relative risk of each study by a bias factor, which is the degree of bias due to failure to adjust for employment status. We assigned the same bias factor to all studies (except Hamieh et al.<sup>43</sup> because this study restricted participants to employees) and pooled the bias-adjusted relative risks using a random effects model. More details about the bias analysis methods are described in Supplementary Table 2 and elsewhere.<sup>16,17</sup> All statistical analysis was performed using STATA version 15.

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. Study characteristics

After applying our inclusion and exclusion criteria, we identified 17 studies (1,033,131 participants) that met the inclusion criteria for our meta-analysis (Fig. 1).<sup>27–43</sup> The number of participants in each study ranged from 133 to 933,211, with a mean age range of 47.8–75.6 years (Table 1). The follow-up period ranged from 1.5 to 20 years. All studies included in the meta-analysis adjusted for age and sex, while other factors such as socioeconomic status and comorbidities were less consistently included in fully adjusted models. Further detail with a quality assessment of each study is shown in Supplementary Table 3.

#### 3.2. Random effects meta-analysis

The random effects meta-analysis indicated that depression was associated with higher risk of non-fatal CVD event (relative risk = 1.35, 95% CI = 1.20 to 1.53) and fatal CVD event (relative risk = 1.47, 95% CI = 1.21 to 1.77) (Fig. 2). As Lin et al.,<sup>31</sup> Sullivan et al.,<sup>34</sup> and Ting et al.<sup>40</sup> included death in their definition of CVD, we removed them for the analysis of non-fatal CVD events but the results did not change substantially (relative risk = 1.31, 95% CI = 1.15 to 1.51). We found high and moderate heterogeneity for effect estimates in studies for non-fatal CVD events ( $I^2 = 89.3\%$ ; P < 0.01 for heterogeneity) and for fatal CVD events  $(I^2 = 28.7\%; P = 0.20$  for heterogeneity) respectively. Begg's P values were 0.35 and 0.54, and Egger's bias coefficients were 1.06 (95% CI = -0.91 to 3.04, P-value = 0.25) and 1.89 (95% CI = -1.11 to 4.89, Pvalue = 0.18) for non-fatal and fatal CVD events, respectively. The funnel plot for non-fatal CVD events appears asymmetrical (Supplementary Fig. 2) but the results did not substantially change after removing studies (Black et al.<sup>27</sup> and Wang et al.<sup>42</sup>) with relatively small sample size and stronger effect estimates (relative risk = 1.30, 95% CI = 1.16 to 1.47). The funnel plot for fatal CVD events appears to be symmetrical, indicating a lack of evidence for publication bias.



Fig. 1. Flow of studies through review.

#### 3.3. Stratified analysis

For non-fatal CVD events, we found evidence of heterogeneity in the results according to inclusion criteria (including previous CVD or not) (Table 2). On the other hand, stratifying by the length of follow-up (>6 years vs  $\leq$ 6 years), diabetes assessment (type 2 vs type unclear), or CVD outcome definition (including stroke or not) did not result in more than minimal heterogeneity. For fatal CVD events, we did not find evidence of heterogeneity in the stratified analysis (i.e. study location, and length of follow-up) or the overall result. No particular study was identified as influential in leave-one-out sensitivity analysis (Supplementary Fig. 3).

### 3.4. Bias analysis

The bias analysis indicated that unmeasured unemployment alone is unlikely to explain the observed association between depression and CVD events among individuals with type 2 diabetes (Fig. 3, Supplementary Table 4). To explain the association between depression and nonfatal CVD events, unemployment (assuming a basic prevalence of unemployment among diabetic patients – without depression – of 10%) would have had to be much more prevalent in diabetic patients with depression (>25%) and also have a very strong association with non-fatal CVD events (RR > 5.0) among individuals with type 2 diabetes. Similarly, to account for the association between depression and fatal CVD events, unemployment status would have needed to be much more highly prevalent in diabetic patients with depression (>25%) and have a strong association with fatal CVD events (RR >5.0) among individuals with type 2 diabetes.

# 4. Discussion

In this meta-analysis of 1,033,131 patients with type 2 diabetes from 17 studies, we observed a higher risk of both non-fatal and fatal CVD events among those with depression compared with those without depression. Bias analysis indicated that the observed association between depression and CVD events among patients with type 2 diabetes is unlikely to be entirely due to confounding by an unmeasured (uncontrolled) co-factor such as unemployment. Given the high prevalence of depression in patients with type 2 diabetes, our findings



Fig. 2. Random effects meta-analysis of the association of depression with non-fatal and fatal CVD events among patients with type 2 diabetes.

|--|

Stratified analysis of depression and the risk of non-fatal and fatal CVD events among individuals with type 2 diabetes.

	No of studies	RR (95% CI)	P for heterogeneity	I <sup>2</sup> (%)	P for interaction
Non-fatal CVD event					
Total	11	1.35 (1.20-1.53)	<0.001	89.3	
Study location					
US	7	1.25 (1.10-1.43)	< 0.001	87.3	0.02
Non-US	4	1.73 (1.37-2.19)	0.29	20.9	
Follow-up					
>6 years	5	1.42 (1.23-1.63)	0.001	78.8	0.65
≤6 years	6	1.33 (1.04–1.69)	0.001	75.5	
Inclusion criteria					
Including previous CVD	6	1.21 (1.04-1.42)	< 0.001	86.5	0.02
Excluding previous CVD	5	1.64 (1.33-2.02)	0.07	54.7	
Diabetes definition					
Type 2 diabetes	7	1.51 (1.30-1.76)	0.11	41.9	0.06
Type unclear	4	1.20 (0.99-1.44)	< 0.001	91.9	
Outcome definition					
Including stroke	4	1.61 (1.22-2.13)	0.07	58.0	0.15
Without stroke	7	1.28 (1.11-1.46)	< 0.001	87.8	
Fatal CVD event <sup>a</sup>					
Total	8	1.47 (1.21-1.77)	0.20	28.7	
Study location					
US	5	1.45 (1.19–1.78)	0.29	20.4	0.57
Non-US	3	1.75 (0.94-3.27)	0.09	58.2	
Follow-up					
>6 years	4	1.28 (0.99-1.66)	0.26	24.6	0.13
≤6 years	4	1.66 (1.33-2.07)	0.41	0.0	
Diabetes definition					
Туре 2	4	1.45 (1.18-1.77)	0.51	0.0	0.81
Type unclear	4	1.53 (1.03–2.29)	0.06	60.1	

<sup>a</sup> All studies included and controlled for previous history of CVD at baseline.

highlight that mental health management for diabetic patients may reduce their risk of CVD events.

Our findings advance our current state of knowledge about the link between depression and CVD among patients with diabetes. A prior meta-analysis showed that depression was associated with fatal CVD events among patients with type 2 diabetes (HR 1.39, 95% CI = 1.11 to 1.73).<sup>10</sup> We have updated the results including 3 additional large cohort studies on this topic published between 2013 and 2019.<sup>35,36,41</sup> In addition, the risk of non-fatal CVD events due to depression in diabetic patients has not been adequately established. Although recent meta-analyses reported the association between depression and subsequent CVD events, 46,47 these studies have limited information involving 9-11 studies, requiring a more comprehensive systematic review and a meta-analysis on this topic. Furthermore, given that depression and CVD share many common causes,<sup>4,12</sup> it is critically important to assess the robustness of the summary estimates to uncontrolled confounding as this is one of the common and important potential biases in observational studies.<sup>16</sup> In this context, our meta-analytic findings are based on the most updated information through 2019, and along with our bias analysis, highlight that depression in patients with type 2 diabetes may need to be seriously considered as depression may increase the risks of not only mortality but also nonfatal CVD events which are a strong predictor of health-related quality of life and economic burden.<sup>1,11</sup>

There are several mechanisms that could explain why depression increases the risk of CVD events in patients with type 2 diabetes. Depression induces the following biological responses which are well-known risk factors of CVD events; including alterations of autonomic nervous system activity, decrease of heart-rate variability, the elevation of heart rate, catecholamine levels, and inflammatory activity, and the induction of endothelial and platelet dysfunction.<sup>48–53</sup> In addition, the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, which is essential for regulating glucocorticoid production by the adrenal glands, is prone to dysregulation with low socioeconomic status and poor health behaviors in those with a genetic predisposition.<sup>4</sup> Such dysfunction may exacerbate the development of diabetes, metabolic syndrome, and insulin resistance, and increase the risk of having CVD events.<sup>54</sup> Depressive symptoms are also

linked to behaviors such as failure to stop smoking, sedentariness,<sup>55</sup> low physical activities,<sup>56</sup> poor adherence to medication,<sup>57</sup> poor diets, self-neglect, and decreased self-esteem,<sup>4</sup> and all of these may also contribute to the incidence of CVD events.

We found between-study heterogeneity for non-fatal CVD events risk with depression by study location (US or Non-US). Given the variability of clinical guidelines for the treatment of depression<sup>58</sup> and the potential genetic vulnerability leading to comorbid depression and CVD,<sup>59</sup> we may need to consider race or country (culture)-specific risk factors for CVD when aggregating measures of association across regions. Our findings of a lower risk of non-fatal CVD events with depression in studies including subjects with a prior CVD history compared with studies excluding those with prior CVD events at baseline indicate that the risk of primary and secondary CVD events among diabetic patients might differ (i.e. larger effects of depression on primary CVD events compared with secondary CVD events). However, we cannot rule out the possibility that the history of CVD events in patients with depression might be so disabling that they cannot be enrolled in studies (i.e. bias towards the null). Pharmacological management of depression specific to patients with a prior CVD<sup>59</sup> and careful follow-up of such patients might also contribute to the observed difference. Further investigations would be needed to validate these hypotheses.

Using bias analysis, we also demonstrated that uncontrolled confounding alone is unlikely to sufficiently explain our findings. Given that depression and CVD share environmental and lifestyle risk factors such as socioeconomic status, social adversity, smoking, and physical inactivity,<sup>6</sup> uncontrolled confounding is one of the important issues in observational studies that prevents us from inferring a causal relationship between depression and CVD events. In the present study, we focused on unemployment because none of the included studies controlled for this variable (except one study that included only employed individuals) despite prior findings that unemployment is one of the major risk factors of depression<sup>13</sup> and CVD.<sup>14</sup> Our bias analysis indicated that unemployment status among diabetic patients would have needed to have a very strong association with both depression and CVD. According to the



Fig. 3. Random effects meta-analysis of the association of depression with non-fatal and fatal CVD events among individuals with type 2 diabetes adjusting for bias due to unmeasured confounding (unemployment).<sup>a</sup> <sup>a</sup>Assuming the prevalence of unemployment in diabetic patients with depression is 10%.

previously reported association with an HR of 1.74 between unemployment and CVD events risk,<sup>14</sup> failing to control for unemployment may not fully explain the observed association between depression and CVD among patients with type 2 diabetes. Furthermore, given the current unemployment crisis due to the COVID-19 pandemic,<sup>60</sup> the potential role of employment status and its sequela such as access to health insurance and health care in diabetes epidemiology would require more attention than ever. Thus, our bias analysis emphasizes the importance of this factor as a potential confounder in future diabetes-related research.

Our study has several limitations. First, a bias analysis for uncontrolled confounding does not remove the possibility that the selected cohort studies may have suffered from other sources of bias such as measurement error and selection bias. Most cohort studies included in this meta-analysis rely on self-reports of diabetes, which may lead to misclassification. The bias from such misclassifications is most likely non-differential with respect to CVD outcome events, and thus would bias the measure of association towards the null, if at all. Selection bias could also be induced by a differential loss to follow up in each study given that some studies identified CVD events by selfreport.<sup>27,32,36,41</sup> Second, manifestations of CVD events might be heterogeneous across the studies included in this meta-analysis. For example, the study by Scherrer et al.<sup>33</sup> defined myocardial infarction incidence as their primary outcome, while the study by Wang et al<sup>42</sup> estimated the risk of heart failure incidence. Third, depression and type 2 diabetes have bidirectional associations, but most studies included in this meta-analysis do not specify which condition developed first. When diabetes is a confounder of the association between depression and CVD outcomes, the stratification by diabetes status (described as [Type 2 Diabetes] in Supplementary Fig. 4) would remove the confounding bias due to diabetes. However, it is also possible that diabetes occurred after the development of depression. In this scenario, diabetes would be a mediator between depression and CVD outcomes, and conditioning on diabetes would not allow us to accurately estimate the total effects of depression on CVD outcomes. To overcome these limitations, further longitudinal studies with clear causal ordering and consistent definitions of depression, diabetes, and CVD will be necessary. Fourth, as type 1 diabetes has different biological and socio-behavioral mechanisms from type 2 diabetes, our result may not extend to patients

with type 1 diabetes. Finally, this meta-analysis cannot conclude whether treating depressive symptoms in diabetic patients will be effective in reducing CVD risks, while reducing depressive symptoms will certainly improve health-related quality of life.

# 5. Conclusions

In conclusion, the present meta-analysis found that depression is associated with an increased risk of non-fatal and fatal CVD events. Our bias analysis showed that the observed association between depression and CVD events may not be entirely explained by confounding due to uncontrolled factors such as unemployment. Further investigations are needed to understand whether and to what extent mental health management prevents fatal and non-fatal CVD events among patients with type 2 diabetes.

#### **CRediT** authorship contribution statement

All authors had full access to all of the data in the study and took responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

Concept and design: Inoue, Beekley, Goto, Jeon, Ritz.

Acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data: Inoue, Beekley, Goto, Jeon, Ritz.

Drafting of the manuscript: Inoue, Beekley.

Critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content: Inoue, Beekley, Goto, Jeon, Ritz.

Statistical analysis: Inoue, Goto, Jeon.

#### Funding/support

KI was supported by the Burroughs Wellcome Fund Interschool Training Program in Chronic Diseases (BWF-CHIP), Honjo International Scholarship Foundation, and National Institutes of Health (NIH)/NIDDK grant F99DK126119. This article does not necessarily represent the views and policies of the NIH. The funders had no role in the design and conduct of the study; collection, management, analysis, and interpretation of the data; preparation, review, or approval of the manuscript; and decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

#### **Declaration of competing interest**

All authors state that they have no conflict of interest.

# Acknowledgments

The authors thank Bethany Myers (Librarian, UCLA) for her helpful suggestions about search terms in each electronic database.

#### Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2020.107710.

#### References

- Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). , https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/ detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds). Accessed April 25, 2019.
- Whiting DR, Guariguata L, Weil C, et al. IDF diabetes atlas: global estimates of the prevalence of diabetes for 2011 and 2030. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2011;94:311-21.
- Bennett JE, Stevens GA, Mathers CD, et al. NCD Countdown 2030: worldwide trends in non-communicable disease mortality and progress towards Sustainable Development Goal target 3.4. Lancet 2018;392:1072-88.
- Moulton CD, Pickup JC, Ismail K. The link between depression and diabetes: the search for shared mechanisms. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2015;3:461-71.

- Hackett RA, Steptoe A. Type 2 diabetes mellitus and psychological stress a modifiable risk factor. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2017;13:547-60.
- Carney RM, Freedland KE. Depression and coronary heart disease. Nat Rev Cardiol 2017;14:145-55.
- Yusuf S, Hawken S, Ounpuu S, et al. Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. Lancet 2004;364:937-52.
- 8. Anderson RJ, Freedland KE, Clouse RE, et al. The prevalence of comorbid depression in adults with diabetes: a meta-analysis. Diabetes Care 2001;24:1069-78.
- Snoek FJ, Bremmer MA, Hermanns N. Constructs of depression and distress in diabetes: time for an appraisal. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2015;3:450-60.
- van Dooren FEP, Nefs G, Schram MT, et al. Depression and risk of mortality in people with diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS ONE 2013;8, e57058.
- 11. Roth GA, Johnson CO, Abate KH, et al. The burden of cardiovascular diseases among US states, 1990–2016. JAMA Cardiol 2018;3:375-89.
- Schultz WM, Kelli HM, Lisko JC, et al. Socioeconomic status and cardiovascular outcomes: challenges and interventions. Circulation 2018;137:2166-78.
- Bijlsma MJ, Tarkiainen L, Myrskylä M, et al. Unemployment and subsequent depression: a mediation analysis using the parametric G-formula. Soc Sci Med 2017;194: 142-50.
- Meneton P, Kesse-Guyot E, Méjean C, et al. Unemployment is associated with high cardiovascular event rate and increased all-cause mortality in middle-aged socially privileged individuals. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 2015;88:707-16.
- Méjean C, Droomers M, van der Schouw YT, et al. The contribution of diet and lifestyle to socioeconomic inequalities in cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. Int J Cardiol 2013;168:5190-5.
- Arah OA. Bias analysis for uncontrolled confounding in the health sciences. Annu Rev Public Health 2017;38:23-38.
- Goto A, Arah OA, Goto M, et al. Severe hypoglycaemia and cardiovascular disease: systematic review and meta-analysis with bias analysis. BMJ 2013;347:f4533.
- Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, et al. Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. JAMA 2000;283:2008-12.
- Rothman K, Grenland S, Lash TL. Modern epidemiology (vol. 3). Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Health/ Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. 2008.
- Altman DG, Bland JM. Interaction revisited: the difference between two estimates. BMJ 2003;326:219.
- Park M, Katon WJ, Wolf FM. Depression and risk of mortality in individuals with diabetes: a meta-analysis and systematic review. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 2013;35: 217-25.
- Begg CB, Mazumdar M. Operating characteristics of a rank correlation test for publication bias. Biometrics 1994;50:1088-101.
- Egger M, Davey Smith G, Schneider M, et al. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. BMJ 1997;315:629-34.
- DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. Control Clin Trials 1986;7: 177-88.
- Higgins JPT, Thompson SG. Quantifying heterogeneity in a meta-analysis. Stat Med 2002;21:1539-58.
- Higgins JPT, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, et al. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. BMJ 2003;327:557-60.
- Black SA, Markides KS, Ray LA. Depression predicts increased incidence of adverse health outcomes in older Mexican Americans with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2003;26:2822-8.
- Egede LE, Nietert PJ, Zheng D. Depression and all-cause and coronary heart disease mortality among adults with and without diabetes. Diabetes Care 2005;28:1339-45.
- Katon W, Fan M-Y, Unützer J, et al. Depression and diabetes: a potentially lethal combination. J Gen Intern Med 2008;23:1571-5.
- Lin EHB, Heckbert SR, Rutter CM, et al. Depression and increased mortality in diabetes: unexpected causes of death. Ann Fam Med 2009;7:414-21.
- Lin EHB, Rutter CM, Katon W, et al. Depression and advanced complications of diabetes: a prospective cohort study. Diabetes Care 2010;33:264-9.
- Pan A, Lucas M, Sun Q, et al. Increased mortality risk in women with depression and diabetes mellitus. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2011;68:42-50.
- **33.** Scherrer JF, Garfield LD, Chrusciel T, et al. Increased risk of myocardial infarction in depressed patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2011;34:1729-34.
- Sullivan MD, O'Connor P, Feeney P, et al. Depression predicts all-cause mortality: epidemiological evaluation from the ACCORD HRQL substudy. Diabetes Care 2012;35: 1708-15.
- Coleman SM, Katon W, Lin E, et al. Depression and death in diabetes; 10-year followup of all-cause and cause-specific mortality in a diabetic cohort. Psychosomatics 2013;54:428-36.
- 36. Cummings DM, Kirian K, Howard G, et al. Consequences of comorbidity of elevated stress and/or depressive symptoms and incident cardiovascular outcomes in diabetes: results from the REasons for Geographic And Racial Differences in Stroke (REGARDS) study. Diabetes Care 2016;39:101-9.
- Novak M, Mucsi I, Rhee CM, et al. Increased risk of incident chronic kidney disease, cardiovascular disease, and mortality in patients with diabetes with comorbid depression. Diabetes Care 2016;39:1940-7.
- Bruce DG, Davis WA, Starkstein SE, et al. A prospective study of depression and mortality in patients with type 2 diabetes: the Fremantle Diabetes Study. Diabetologia 2005;48:2532-9.
- Bot M, Pouwer F, Zuidersma M, et al. Association of coexisting diabetes and depression with mortality after myocardial infarction. Diabetes Care 2012;35:503-9.

- 40. Ting RZW, Lau ESH, Ozaki R, et al. High risk for cardiovascular disease in Chinese type 2 diabetic patients with major depression—a 7-year prospective analysis of the Hong Kong Diabetes Registry. J Affect Disord 2013;149;129-35.
- Bruce DG, Davis WA, Dragovic M, et al. Comorbid anxiety and depression and their impact on cardiovascular disease in type 2 diabetes: the Fremantle Diabetes Study phase II. Depress Anxiety 2016;33:960-6.
- 42. Wang Y, Yang H, Nolan M, et al. Association of depression with evolution of heart failure in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Cardiovasc Diabetol 2018;17:19.
- Hamieh N, Meneton P, Wiernik E, et al. Depression, treatable cardiovascular risk factors and incident cardiac events in the Gazel cohort. Int | Cardiol 2019;284:90-5.
- Korff MV, Katon W, Lin EHB, et al. Work disability among individuals with diabetes. Diabetes Care 2005;28:1326-32.
- 45. Jefferis BJ, Nazareth I, Marston L, et al. Associations between unemployment and major depressive disorder: evidence from an international, prospective study (the predict cohort). Soc Sci Med 2011;73:1627-34.
- 46. Farooqi A, Khunti K, Abner S, et al. Comorbid depression and risk of cardiac events and cardiac mortality in people with diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2019;156:107816.
- Nouwen A, Adriaanse MC, van Dam K, et al. Longitudinal associations between depression and diabetes complications: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabet Med 2019;36:1562-72.
- Veith RC, Lewis N, Linares OA, et al. Sympathetic nervous system activity in major depression. Basal and desipramine-induced alterations in plasma norepinephrine kinetics. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1994;51:411-22.
- Carney RM, Freedland KE, Stein PK, et al. Change in heart rate and heart rate variability during treatment for depression in patients with coronary heart disease. Psychosom Med 2000;62:639-47.
- Miller AH, Maletic V, Raison CL. Inflammation and its discontents: the role of cytokines in the pathophysiology of major depression. Biol Psychiatry 2009;65:732-41.

- 51. Broadley AJM, Korszun A, Jones CJH, et al. Arterial endothelial function is impaired in treated depression. Heart 2002;88:521-3.
- Serebruany VL, Glassman AH, Malinin AI, et al. Enhanced platelet/endothelial activation in depressed patients with acute coronary syndromes: evidence from recent clinical trials. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 2003;14:563-7.
- Shimbo D, Child J, Davidson K, et al. Exaggerated serotonin-mediated platelet reactivity as a possible link in depression and acute coronary syndromes. Am J Cardiol 2002;89:331-3.
- 54. Chrousos GP. The role of stress and the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in the pathogenesis of the metabolic syndrome: neuro-endocrine and target tissue-related causes. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2000;24:S50-5.
- Brummett BH, Babyak MA, Siegler IC, et al. Effect of smoking and sedentary behavior on the association between depressive symptoms and mortality from coronary heart disease. Am J Cardiol 2003;92:529-32.
- Blumenthal JA, Babyak MA, Carney RM, et al. Exercise, depression, and mortality after myocardial infarction in the ENRICHD trial. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2004;36: 746-55.
- Carney RM, Freedland KE, Eisen SA, et al. Major depression and medication adherence in elderly patients with coronary artery disease. Health Psychol 1995;14:88-90.
- Bayes AJ, Parker GB. Comparison of guidelines for the treatment of unipolar depression: a focus on pharmacotherapy and neurostimulation. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2018;137:459-71.
- 59. Vaccarino V, Badimon L, Bremner JD, et al. Depression and coronary heart disease: 2018 ESC position paper of the working group of coronary pathophysiology and microcirculation developed under the auspices of the ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines. Eur Heart J 2020;41:1687-96.
- 60. Hard times forecast for global job recovery in 2020, warns UN labour agency chief. UN News. 2020, https://news.un.org/en/story/2020/06/1067432. Accessed July 5, 2020.